You can view the agenda on the website
or use a smart phone camera and scan the code
To:

The Chair and Members of the Health and
Adult Care Scrutiny Committee

Date: 7 September 2021

County Hall
Topsham Road
Exeter
Devon
EX2 4QD

Contact: Gerry Rufolo 01392 382299
Email: gerry.rufolo@devon.gov.uk

HEALTH AND ADULT CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, 15th September, 2021
A meeting of the Health and Adult Care Scrutiny Committee is to be held on the above
date at 10.30 am at Council Chamber - County Hall to consider the following matters.
Phil Norrey
Chief Executive
AGENDA

PART 1 - OPEN COMMITTEE
1

Apologies

2

Minutes
Minutes of the meeting held on 18 March 2021 (previously circulated)

3

Items Requiring Urgent Attention
Items which in the opinion of the Chairman should be considered at the meeting
as matters of urgency.

4

Public Participation

Members of the public may make representations/presentations on any
substantive matter listed in the published agenda, as set out hereunder, relating to
a specific matter or an examination of services or facilities provided or to be
provided.
MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION OR REVIEW
5
Election of Commissioning Liaison Member
10:32 hrs
In line with the recommendations of the 'Scrutiny in a Commissioning Council'
Task Group Report, the Committee is requested to select a Commissioning
Liaison Member, whose role will be to work closely with the relevant Cabinet
Members and Chief Officers/Heads of Service, developing a fuller understanding
of commissioning processes, and provide a link between Cabinet and Scrutiny on
commissioning and commissioned services.
6
Election of Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Member Champion
10: 34 hrs
The Cabinet Member for Public Health, Communities and Equality has requested
nominations for a Member champion on each of the three scrutiny committees in
order to support him to better understand the Council's responses from across its
services.
7
Long Term Plan - Integrated Care System: Update
10:35 hrs
Report by the Devon Clinical Commissioning Group, (to follow).
8
North Devon Link Centre Service- Proposal for Future Delivery (Pages 1 - 6)
11:10 hrs
Report of the Locality Director (North and East), Devon County Council and NHS
Devon CCG (ACH/21/136), attached
9

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Complaint - Briefing (Pages 7 10)
11: 30 hrs
Report of the Head of Adult Care Operations and Health (ACOH/21/02) attached
10
Health and Care General Update (Pages 11 - 18)
11:40 hrs
Joint report from Devon County Council and NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning
Group (ACH/21/137) attached
11
Public Health Focus (Pages 19 - 22)
12:00 hrs
Report of the Standing Overview Group (SOG) meeting held on 18 August 2021,
attached

12

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
In accordance with previous practice, Scrutiny Committees are requested to
review the list of forthcoming business and determine which items are to be
included in the Work Programme.
The Committee may also wish to review the content of the Cabinet Forward Plan
and the Corporate Infrastructure and Regulatory Services Risk Register to see if
there are any specific items therein it might wish to explore further.

MATTERS FOR INFORMATION
13

Information Previously Circulated
Below is a list of information previously circulated for Members, since the last meeting,
relating to topical developments which have been or are currently being considered by
this Scrutiny Committee.

(a) Coronavirus Vaccination in Devon Briefing Updates from the NHS Devon CCG on the
ongoing vaccination programme.
(b) Care Quality Commission (CQC) report on the inspection and findings of the Devon
Partnership NHS Trust .Adult mental health services.
(c) Letter from the Chief Executive of the Integrated Care System (ICS) Devon
concerning the entry of the ICS Devon into the national Recovery Support Programme.
(d) Healthwatch in Devon, Plymouth and Torbay Annual Report for 2020/21.

PART II - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF PRESS AND
PUBLIC ON THE GROUNDS THAT EXEMPT INFORMATION MAY BE
DISCLOSED
Nil
Members are reminded that Part II Reports contain exempt information and should
therefore be treated accordingly. They should not be disclosed or passed on to any
other person(s). They need to be disposed of carefully and should be returned to the
Democratic Services Officer at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal.

MEETINGS INFORMATION AND NOTES FOR VISITORS
Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors
For SatNav purposes, the postcode for County Hall is EX2 4QD
Further information about how to get to County Hall gives information on visitor
parking at County Hall and bus routes.
Exeter has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes. For further information
see the Travel Devon webpages.
The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High
Street), St David’s and St Thomas. All have regular bus services to the High Street.
Visitors to County Hall are asked to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors
have any specific requirements, please contact reception on 01392 382504
beforehand.
Membership of a Committee
For full details of the Membership of a Committee, please visit the Committee page
on the website and click on the name of the Committee you wish to see.
Committee Terms of Reference
For the terms of reference for any Committee, please visit the Committee page on
the website and click on the name of the Committee. Under purpose of Committee,
the terms of reference will be listed. Terms of reference for all Committees are also
detailed within Section 3b of the Council’s Constitution.
Access to Information
Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or background papers relating to
an item on the agenda should contact the Clerk of the Meeting. To find this, visit the
Committee page on the website and find the Committee. Under contact information
(at the bottom of the page) the Clerk’s name and contact details will be present. All
agenda, reports and minutes of any Committee are published on the Website
Public Participation
The Council operates a Public Participation Scheme where members of the public
can interact with various Committee meetings in a number of ways. For full details of
whether or how you can participate in a meeting, please look at the Public
Participation Scheme or contact the Clerk for the meeting.
In relation to Highways and Traffic Orders Committees, any member of the District
Council or a Town or Parish Councillor for the area covered by the HATOC who is
not a member of the Committee, may attend and speak to any item on the Agenda
with the consent of the Committee, having given 24 hours’ notice.
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings
The proceedings of any meeting may be recorded and / or broadcasted live, apart
from any confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the
press and public. For more information go to our webcasting pages

Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and
public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so,
as directed by the Chair. Filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible without
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and
having regard to the wishes of others present who may not wish to be filmed.
Anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic
Services Officer in attendance.
Members of the public may also use social media to report on proceedings.
Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council
It is to be noted that Members of the Council must declare any interest they may
have in any item to be considered at this meeting, prior to any discussion taking
place on that item.
WiFI
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall.
Fire
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately by the nearest
available exit following the fire exit signs. If doors fail to unlock press the Green
break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal belongings; do not use
the lifts; and do not re-enter the building until told to do so. Assemble either on the
cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car park
behind Bellair.
First Aid
Contact Main Reception (Extension 2504) for a trained first aider.
Mobile Phones
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council
Chamber
Alternative Formats

If anyone needs a copy of an Agenda and/or a Report in
another format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other
languages), please contact the Customer Service Centre on
0345 155 1015 or email: committee@devon.gov.uk or write to
the Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat in G31, County Hall,
Exeter, EX2 4QD.
Induction Loop available

Agenda Item 8
ACH/21/136
Health and Adult Care Scrutiny
15th September 2021

North Devon Link Centre Service – Proposal for Future Delivery
Report of the Locality Director (North and East), Devon County Council and NHS Devon
CCG

Recommendation: that Committee consider the proposal as part of the statutory
engagement and consultation process on the new service model.
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
1.

Summary

1.1

This report sets out the proposed future model for the North Devon Link
Centre Service (NDLS) based on findings from a thorough review and the
impact of Covid-19.

1.2

The proposal is to:


Redesign the North Devon Link Centre Service from a building-based model
to short-term enabling support for those with a statutory need, working with
people in their community to achieve what matters to them and to live as
independently as possible; and



Invest in the local community and voluntary sector to support people who do
not need this level of support.

2.

Introduction

2.1

Unique to North Devon, the service was originally established in 1992 as a
Devon County Council (DCC) In House Service. The Service remains the
responsibility of DCC but is managed by Devon Partnership Trust (DPT) as
part of the assigned services under the Section 75 Agreement.

2.2

It is open access and free at the point of delivery, focused on recovery for
people with a perceived mental health need and/or Autism, a Learning
Disability, who are homeless or receiving support for substance misuse.

2.3

There are four centres across North Devon (Barnstaple, Bideford, Holsworthy
and Ilfracombe) providing a building-based traditional day service together
with some outreach and group sessions. The outreach sessions build
confidence to encourage people to attend the centres and the group sessions
focus on wellbeing. The centres are fully funded by DCC, who own the
buildings, and the cost of running the service is £480k per year.

2.4

Like many day centres, since the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
service has moved from building-based to virtual support, mostly by
telephone. Since December 2020, alongside virtual support, staff have been
working with the North Devon Mental Health Social Work Teams (DPT) to
provide short-term support for people.

Page 1

Agenda Item 8
2.5

A review of the support provided by the North Devon Link Service was
initiated to understand alignment with our strategic intent for people to live
independently as part of the community and to benefit from strengths-based
support that is focused on achievement of goals and progression. The review
concluded in July 2019.

2.6

To understand the impact of Covid-19 on the North Devon Link Service delivery,
a further review, concluding in May 2021 was undertaken.

2.7

Feedback has been sought from people who use the centres, their
families/carers and staff working in and/or connected to the centres. In line
with the message to work from home where possible and whilst the review is
taking place, the service has been advised that the buildings will remain
closed.

3.

Strategic context and key findings

3.1

There is opportunity to build on the innovative ways that people have been
supported during the pandemic by bolstering and reshaping short-term
enabling support in communities across Devon. Independence and a good
quality of life should be less about services and more about increasing
capacity around early intervention and enabling life experiences - which must
include timely preparation for adulthood.

3.2

The impact of the pandemic has focused and accelerated thinking around the
limitations and resilience of the pre-pandemic model of provision. A recent
ADASS report on the impact of Covid-19 on people with learning disabilities
and/or autistic people recommends moving away from a heavy reliance on
building-based services and investing instead in a more diverse set of
opportunities for enablement and independence in communities. Proposals
for the NDLC have been developed in this strategic context.

3.3

Investment in the Community and Voluntary sector will encourage people to
get involved in their local community.
Key findings from July 2019 review and impact of the pandemic

3.4

Centre staff are committed and passionate about what they do. Centres
report that they provide a recovery service to people from across the mental
health spectrum from little or no mental health need to those who meet the
secondary mental health threshold.

3.5

Despite identifying as a recovery service, the review concluded in July 2019
highlighted that some people had been attending the service for up to 20
years (mostly between the ages of 41-65). Some of these people attended on
and off as they needed support, but others continuously as a place to
socialise and receive support. The age range of people who use the centres
shows that the current offer does not meet the needs of young people.

3.5

There is no admission or discharge criteria and the service mostly supports
people who do not have a Care Act eligible need, alongside people receiving
support from secondary mental health services. 11% of people who access
the service have an eligible social care need and 43.25% of people are in
receipt of another DPT service. The Community Mental Health Teams

Page 2

Agenda Item 8
(CMHT) were the main referrers who use the NDLS for monitoring people
discharged from their caseload.
3.6

A survey of people who use the service said they used the centres as a place
to meet other people and feel safe, supported and listened to. Their friends
go there, and they don’t need to pay for it. Some people identified other
groups outside of the Link Centre that they would like to see developed and
other wanted more activities to be provided in the Centre.

3.7

Feedback on the revised service model operating during the Covid-19
pandemic was also sought from people who use the NDLS service (October
‘20 survey) and from staff working in and/or connected to the centres
(Summer ’20, April ‘21). The response to the survey was very low, with
feedback mostly from people who access the service to combat loneliness or
social isolation. A full impact assessment is being developed to better
establish the impact of the change in service delivery since Covid-19.

3.8

The number of people who are supported by the service has significantly
reduced during the pandemic. Whilst services moved to a virtual delivery
during the pandemic this has been predominately by telephone with very
limited progress around virtual groups. A review of three open access
voluntary organisations that support people with similar needs has shown
some excellent virtual activities and ongoing support that could be developed.

3.9

NDLS staff have attended training and the opportunity to trial new ways of
working, but wish to reopen the centres and operate as before. Based on the
analysis undertaken, maintaining the previous model of support will not meet
DCC’s strategic aim of promoting independence and the service will continue
to support people who do not have a Care Act eligible need.

4.

Proposed way forward and next steps

4.1

On the basis of the thorough reviews that have been undertaken, including on
the impact of the pandemic, the proposal is to:


Redesign the North Devon Link Centre Service from a building-based model
to short-term enabling support for those with a Care Act eligible need,
working with people in their community to achieve what matters to them and
to live as independently as possible; and



Invest in the local community and voluntary sector to support people who do
not need this level of support.

4.2

This proposal builds on the innovative ways that we have seen people be
supported during the pandemic, and which we know they have valued. It will
bolster and reshape short-term enabling support for people to achieve what
matters to them.

4.3

The proposals will ensure that a statutory service to promote independence is
provided to people who have an eligible need, whilst investment will help to
increase sufficiency of services in the voluntary and community sector for
people who have a need for non-statutory mental health support.

Page 3

Agenda Item 8
4.4

Timely, focussed interventions that are based in the community will positively
impact people’s lives and reduce the need for longer term packages of
support. Currently people who have a primary diagnosis of mental health are
unable to access the DCC Reaching for Independence (short-term enabling
support) service. The opportunity to access this support will be considered as
part of the work to take these proposals forward.

4.5

A period of engagement with Service Users and Stakeholders has stated and
will continue until 11th September 2021. Engagement documents have been
published on the Devon County Council Have Your Say webpage. In
recognition that not all Service Users will be digitally enabled, the
engagement document with stamped address envelope has been sent to
North Devon Link Service Users. Engagement will be followed by a period of
consultation lasting 30 days.

5.

Options/Alternatives

5.1

An action taken forward following the July 2019 review was to implement
good practice changes to the existing provision of the service, ensuring
consistency across the four centres. This would continue to offer a buildingbased service and could be considered as an alternative to the proposal.

6.

Consultations

6.1

The engagement process is currently in progress and views from that, and
the consultation, will be analysed to form part of the more detailed Impact
Assessment.

7.

Financial Considerations

7.1

The cost of running the centres is currently £480k per year. There are no
plans to reduce investment but invest in a different way.

8.

Legal Considerations

8.1

The lawful implications of the proposal have been considered and taken into
account in the preparation of this report on the proposal set out above. The
legal considerations include Devon County Council’s statutory responsibility
to provide a service to people who are eligible for services under the Care Act
2014, a legal responsibility to carry out consultation with staff lasting 30 days
and a full and meaningful engagement and consultation process with service
users and stakeholders.

9.

Environmental Impact Considerations (Including Climate Change)

9.1

We want people to lead meaningful lives within their communities. There are
clear social and economic benefits in supporting all adults to live as
independently as possible. Environmental impact considerations will be
looked at as part of the impact assessment.

10.

Equality Considerations

10.1

We want people with health and care needs to have the same opportunities
as everyone else and to lead meaningful lives in their communities. An
impact assessment is being completed as part of the engagement process

Page 4

Agenda Item 8
with people and stakeholders for this proposal, which will inform the decision,
which will then be subject to a formal consultation period.
11.

Risk Management Considerations

11.1 This proposal has been assessed and all necessary safeguards or action
have been taken to safeguard the Council's position. In addition, work is
underway with the Community Mental Health Teams to support discharge
options, alongside the development of support within the community and
voluntary sector. The project risk register has been updated as appropriate.
12.

Public Health Impact

12.1 Public Health are taking forward actions developed across the wider Council
to support people to live as independently as possible within their
communities and to reduce health inequalities. Our proposal aligns with
Healthy and Happy Communities, Devon’s Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy 2020 to 2025.
13.

Summary/Conclusion

13.1 The authority is undertaking a formal consultative process to seek views on a
new service model for mental health support in North Devon in light of
national best practice, evidence from the pandemic and a recovery approach.
The committee is invited to contribute its view as part of the process to inform
any future decision making.
Tim Golby
Locality Director (North and East)
Electoral Divisions: North Devon and Torridge
Cabinet Member for Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health Services
Councillor James McInnes
Chief Officer for Adult Care and Health: Jennie Stephens
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries: Sarah Dent, Commissioning Development Officer
Tel No: 07970285320
Background Paper
Nil

Date

Page 5

File Reference

Agenda Item 9
ACOH/21/02
Health and Adult Care Scrutiny Committee
15 September 2021
LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN COMPLAINT – A BRIEFING FOR
SCRUTINY
Report of the Head of Adult Care Operations and Health
Recommendation:
To consider if the actions taken following the Ombudsman complaint are proportionate to the case and
ensure an appropriate level of learning in the service.
1.

Background

Mrs X made a complaint to Devon County Council in July 2019 in relation to moving her mother, Mrs Z,
between care homes due to costs, regarding the stress caused by the lack of communication, failure to
comply with statutory guidance on top-ups and the refusal to reimburse £5000.
Where an individual wants a placement or care package that is above the Local Authority rate, and there is
market sufficiency within the local authority rates, families are able to make a third party top up to enable
someone to receive their preferred care package.
The original complaint response stated that it was not possible to match the weekly fee requested by the
care home under the fair and affordable care policy. Mrs X had entered into a private contractual
arrangement with the home for the care of her mother and therefore the home was stating that Mrs X
should have given them formal notice to end that contract earlier.
As a result, it was felt at the time of the original complaint response that DCC were not liable for the
additional payments made by Mrs X to the home, and she was given two options:
1. Pay the home at the private weekly rate, in full for the period 1st January – 28th April 2019.
Consequently, DCC would recoup its payment (to the home) for the period 20th November 2018 –
28th April 2019 and reimburse Mrs X. Reimbursement would have been made at the weekly rate
paid to the provider by DCC and not at the fee level that Mrs X had previously agreed with the
provider, under the private contractual arrangement.
2. Decline to make any further payment to the provider, for the period January – April 2019.
Mrs X approached the LGSCO after receiving DCC’s complaint response. The LGSCO summarised the
complaint as follows:
Mrs X complains the Council failed to comply with the Care Act 2014 guidance regarding third party
top ups. She also complains the Council failed to assess the risk to her mother aged 107 of moving
her to an alternative care home.
The LGSCO investigated and upheld the complaint with maladministration and injustice. In this case, the
LGSCO has published a public interest report for the following reasons:
1.
2.

significant fault, injustice or remedy and
a significant topical issue.

The Ombudsman’s office has done this to make people aware of what it has found through its investigation
by requiring DCC to:
 Place two public announcements in local newspapers and/or newspaper websites;
 Make the report available free of charge at one or more of its offices (or alternative suitable
arrangement);

Page 7

Agenda Item 9



Formally report back to the Ombudsman our intended course of action; and
Discuss the Ombudsman’s findings and recommendations at a high decision-making level, such as full
council or cabinet.

As a result of the final recommendation above, this briefing has been prepared for the Health and Adult
Care Scrutiny Committee, to ask them to consider if the actions taken in response to the Ombudsman’s
recommendations are proportionate to the case and that the actions ensure an appropriate level of learning
in the service.
It should be noted that the Ombudsman has not issued a public report for Devon Adult Social Care services
for over a decade. The Ombudsman has issued 7 public reports regarding charging in Adult Social Care
services for English Local Authorities and care providers in 2021 to date (including the report relating to this
complaint), however there were no reports on this subject matter issued in 2020, two issued in 2019, and
six in 2018. This supports the Ombudsman’s statement that one of the reasons for issuing a public report in
this case was a significant topical issue of charging. We may expect to see a focus report from the
Ombudsman on the same matter in the coming months.
2.

LGSCO complaint and outcomes

Following investigation, the LGSCO made several recommendations. These were accepted by the Council
and are outlined below, along with the actions taken:
Complete a new financial assessment for Mrs Z from November 2018.
This financial assessment should take into account that she had paid in advance for the care home and so
this money should be included when calculating the level of capital held in November 2018. If the Council
finds that Mrs Z’s savings fell below the savings threshold in 2018 and that she was eligible for financial
assistance, it should refund any money owed to her estate.
A new financial assessment was undertaken, and it was identified that the original calculations only took
into account the payments at DCC’s agreed rate and not at the rate Mrs Z actually paid the residential
home. By not taking into account the actual payments made in advance DCC had implied that the
difference should be met by the family as a third party arrangement (Top Up). DCC’s policy and standard
contract confirms a residential home can’t request a Top Up for any elements of care provision direct from
the family and that all Top Up arrangements should be between the client/representative and DCC.
Furthermore, DCC can only enter into a Top Up arrangement with the client/representative once
sustainability has been confirmed and an appropriate agreement signed.
By not including the Top Up element within the calculations the family effectively paid a Top Up direct to the
residential home which is against DCC policy and practice.
A sum of £4,091.19 was calculated as requiring to be refunded to Mrs Z’s estate, which has now been
completed.
Pay Mrs X £250 to recognise the avoidable distress and time and trouble she experienced as a
result of having to find and move Mrs Z to a new care home;
And
Provide a written apology to Mrs X for the faults identified;
The above two actions have been completed. A Community Services Manager has spoken to the
complainant and explained the actions and learning being taken from the case, which the complainant was
happy with.
Review its procedures around the transition from self-funded to Council funded care to ensure
similar problems do not occur again. This should include clear guidance on how to negotiate with
care providers when there is a dispute over funding levels;
And

Page 8

Agenda Item 9
Ensure all staff are aware of the requirement to identify affordable placements and the need for a
third party top-up when there is no agreement regarding fees;
And
Ensure all staff are aware of the requirement to carry out a risk assessment where there are funding
issues and a service user may need to move to a new placement.
The work required by these three recommendations is being undertaken with oversight by Tina Ramage,
Principal Social Worker for Adult Care Operations & Health.
A summary of learning document has been produced and is in the process of dissemination across all
Devon social care teams.
Staff guidance on assessing risk has been produced and published on DCC’s Adult Social Care resource
pages, including specific reference to risk assessments when service users move home. Staff have also
been informed via the practice newsletter and internal communications. The guidance will also include
webinars and practice videos.
The complaint is also going to be used as an anonymous case study as part of a wider learning package.
Work on this will begin at the end of September and will be shared with a number of leadership forums
across Adult Social Care.
In May and June 2021 two Practice Quality Reviews were completed by Adult Social Care managers with
specific reference to the learning described in the action plan.
3. Additional Learning
Additional learning has been taken from this complaint and is summarised below. This has been shared
with all adult social care operational teams via leadership team meetings in order to ensure appropriate
cascade to all staff.
The importance of documentation
Everything must be fully recorded, particularly in relation to risk management; appropriate recording of
information, including documentation of risk, was missing in this case.
The importance of proportionate independence when investigating complaints
DCC failed to remedy the issues within the local complaints process and did not acknowledge any fault.
The complainant alleged fault from a manager who then investigated themselves, which was not
appropriate. The initial complaint should have been passed to a different manager to ensure no conflict of
interest in the investigation process. This may have avoided the need for an Ombudsman investigation and
public report.
The importance of communication
Negotiations with the care home stalled for three months and no contact was made to family about finance
or progress of placement. There was no evidence of any discussion with Mrs X about third party top ups.
When contact was made after 3 months DCC did not acknowledge any fault or offer reimbursement of fees.
Communications should be clear, timely and documented, and consideration of an advocate is required.
The importance of clarity around finance and process
DCC was unsuccessful in its negotiation with the care home but the contract was put in place anyway.
DCC’s guidance on third party top ups was not followed.

Page 9

Agenda Item 9
We should not put in place contracts when the provider is not in agreement, and the agreed processes
should be used, including escalation if a stale mate is reached.
A learning package on finance has been created and will be rolled out to all Adult Social Care teams in the
coming months.
4. Conclusions
We have taken on learning and recommendations and embedded the learning into our practice. The issues
raised have been taken seriously and they have changed practice, particularly in North Devon, and learning
is being shared Devon-wide.
This case has led to practitioners having different conversations with both colleagues and families. We
have also taken the principles of the learning and applied them to other scenarios, particularly around risk
assessments.

Keri Storey
Head of Adult Care Operations and Health
Helen Wyatt
Strategic Customer Relations Manager

Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health Services: Councillor James McInnes
Chief Officer for Adult Care and Health: Jennie Stephens

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972: LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
Contact for Enquiries: Keri Storey
Tel No: 01392 382300
BACKGROUND PAPER

DATE

FILE REFERENCE

Nil

Page 10

Agenda Item 10
ACH/21/137
Health and Adult Care Scrutiny
15 September 2021
HEALTH AND CARE GENERAL UPDATE PAPER
Joint report from Devon County Council and NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning
Group
1. Recommendation
1.1. That the Health and Adult Care Scrutiny Committee receives this report that
contains updates and general information responding to specific actions,
requests or discussions during the previous Health and Adult Care Scrutiny
Committee meeting.
2. Purpose
2.1. To respond to specific questions or comments from previous meeting and
provide updates on the latest news from the Devon Health and Care system
3. Celebrating local success and achievements
Devon Wellbeing Hub
3.1. The Devon Wellbeing Hub was set up a year into the COVID-19 pandemic in
recognition of the challenging time individuals and teams in healthcare,
social care and the police are having, both inside and outside of work. Since
that time the Hub has now supported more than a hundred colleagues. The
past 18 months have been incredibly difficult and have put pressure on
people emotionally, financially and within their personal lives, as well as in
their demanding jobs. The Hub now acts as a single place where someone
can come along, speak to a member of the team about the challenges they
are facing and create a plan for how to move forward.
Westbank Neighbourhood Friends
3.2. Westbank Neighbourhood Friends in Exeter has won the Queen’s Award
for Voluntary Services for its work during the pandemic to help to keep
vulnerable or frail adults out of hospital, or to have shorter hospital stays.
They match volunteers with people who need assistance, so that they’re
able to get out of hospital and back home as soon as possible. During the
pandemic, their volunteers provided support to over 2,030 patients across
the Exeter, East and Mid Devon area.
The Northam Care Trust
3.3. The Northam Care Trust one of our care providers has won the South West
Care Home Network COVID Hero Award for Devon. The award was given to
Northern Lodge in recognition of resilience, strength, tenacity, teamwork and
success through the pandemic. This is great recognition for such as
progressive, innovative provider of care. A short video of some of the work
taking place that resulted in receiving this award has been produced.

Page 11

Agenda Item 10
Carers Hospital Service
3.4. Earlier this year the Carers Hospital Service delivered by Devon Carers in
the RD&E and NDDH won a prestigious Health Service Journal award. The
project involves Devon Carers working with hospital teams to identify and
provide support to carers to prevent and reduce hospital admissions and
length of stays, supporting carers to look after their own physical, mental
and emotional health, practical support at home, and 6 weeks of follow-ups.
3.5. Between April 2019 and the end of October this year, 2,193 carers have
been helped by the Carers Hospital Service and the average spend per case
including staff cost has been £164, outcomes have included: 775 hospital
admissions prevented, 264 hospital readmission prevented and 576 excess
bed days reduced saving
3.6. Building on this success that led to this award the service continues to have
impact. Arrangements have been made with South Devon Healthcare Trust,
Torbay Hospital and the Torbay Carers service to extend fully into Torbay
Hospital, this has commenced with the Torbay and Devon Carers services
working as one.
3.7. Discussions are also planned with Plymouth City Council, Cornwall County
Council, the CCG and Plymouth Improving Lives Caring for Carers to see
what opportunities there are for the service to be extended in to Derriford
Hospital.
Nursing Times Award – Exeter Teams Shortlisted
3.8. The Living With and Beyond Cancer(LWBC) team, Breast Care Nurse
Specialists and FORCE cancer charity have been shortlisted in this year’s
Nursing Times awards in the Cancer Nursing Category.
3.9. Using a co-production method they redesigned the breast cancer pathway
involving FORCE oncology physiotherapist, oncology dietitian and a Cancer
Support Worker (CSW) to optimise supported self-management for patients.
3.10. By better understanding patients through holistic assessment and focus
groups they were able to design and deliver a tailored rehabilitation program
over 12 weeks supporting weight management and healthy lifestyle (key
components of supported self-management as described in the NHS Long
term plan). Patients attending the group sessions are recording sustainable
lifestyle changes.
Holsworthy
3.11. The community driven work in Holsworthy continues, as the last meeting of
the CCG engagement led Holsworthy Community Involvement Group
(HCIG) was held in June, making way for a new community led delivery
group (chaired by a local resident, and former vice-chair of the HCIG) to take
its place. The ‘Holsworthy and District Community Forum’ will continue the
work from the HCIG and take over the implementation of the
recommendations from the engagement. The NHS are still very much
involved as active members of the group and are looking forward to working
with a wider group of stakeholders to ensure the best outcomes for the
people of Holsworthy and the surrounding area.

Page 12

Agenda Item 10
4. COVID-19 Update
Enhanced Response Area
4.1. Due to high COVID-19 case rates, the government has prioritised Devon,
Cornwall, Plymouth, Torbay and the Isles of Scilly for additional support to
reduce case rates, by designating us an enhanced response area.
4.2. The package includes logistical support to maximise vaccine and testing
uptake; further help for local public health campaigns; and temporary use of
face coverings in communal areas outside classrooms in secondary schools
and colleges. The enhanced response area status will be in place for five
weeks from the 27 August, with a review at four weeks
Update on support to care providers
4.3. Throughout the pandemic DCC and the CCG have ensured a joined-up
approach to communications and support to independent providers of adult
social care services. This has primarily been through the Provider
Engagement Network website and a weekly newsletter to all providers
highlighting key guidance and resources including on PPE, testing,
vaccinations and how COVID funding can be accessed.
4.4. Through the PEN website we have also been ensuring we are signposting to
wellbeing resources that can provider staff can access.
4.5. Although the PEN website is a DCC website access has been enabled for
both Plymouth City Council and Torbay Council to use in communications to
their adult social care providers.
4.6. Jointly across the ICS we have collectively delivered a number of provider
facing webinars on key areas of the COVID response, including the process
for how Government funding such as the Infection Prevention and Control
grant can be accessed.
4.7. Devon care providers have received a total of £67m in COVID related
funding including through the Infection Control Grant. This funding has
supported all our care markets during the pandemic to prevent and reduce
transmission between care homes and support wider workforce resilience.
5. Vaccination update
5.1. Data recorded in the Capacity Tracker and supplied by adult social care
providers shows that as of 3 September in Devon 96% of care home
residents and 91% of care home staff have received their second dose of
the COVID vaccination.
5.2. The SAGE Social Care Working Group has advised that at least 80% of staff
and 90% of residents in a care home should have the first vaccination dose
to provide a minimum level of protection against outbreaks of COVID-19. In
Devon 88.3% of care homes are at this level giving Devon a national ranking
of 29/151.
5.3. The capacity tracker states that 177 of 6550 care home residents and 577 of
9956 staff have not received the first dose of the vaccination. Work

Page 13

Agenda Item 10
continues to address vaccination hesitancy and plan for the 11 November
when mandatory vaccination for those working or volunteering in care
homes, unless exempt becomes law.
5.4. The next cohort of age groups has opened up and hundreds of young
people nearing their 18th birthday can also now book in for their vaccination.
5.5. Teenagers within three months of turning 18 can book their appointment
through the National Booking Service or by calling 119. They can also
attend a walk-in COVID-19 vaccination site without an appointment.
5.6. A small number of walk-in vaccination sites are also available for people
aged 16 and 17 and we expect more sites should become available over
time. Details about upcoming walk-in sessions can be found on the NHS site
finder.
6. Proud to Care update
6.1. This year, Proud to Care has run several recruitment campaigns to attract
people to roles in care and health and support external care providers with
their recruitment. The last recruitment campaign ran from 22 March – 3 June
2021 and focused on recruiting people with the right values to entry-level
roles across the care sector.
6.2. A number of care and support workers featured in the campaign, talking
about their experience of joining the care sector during the pandemic and
the positive impact this has had on their lives, as well as the lives of the
people they support.
6.3. The campaign resulted in 42 people gaining permanent employment in care
roles across Devon and Torbay, and 85 people receiving care and health
careers coaching so they have a greater understanding of the sector and the
roles available, which may lead them to start a role in care in the future.
Since the start of the pandemic we have successfully recruited over 350
people to roles in care and health.
6.4. The next recruitment campaign starting in September will coincide with
furlough ending and again will focus on attracting people with the right
values, who are considering starting a career in care. Our advertising will
target people aged 30+ and a number of care and support workers from
learning disability services, domiciliary care and care homes will be featuring
in our films and case studies.
6.5. The Proud to Care recruitment team will offer 1:1 support for jobseekers and
people who want to have an initial conversation to find out more information.
The campaign will cover the whole of Devon, including Plymouth and
Torbay.
6.6. The recruitment campaign will run alongside the Health and Social Care
Skills Accelerator Programme which is part-funded by the European Social
Fund, and offers free training to people wanting to join the sector and for
those already working in health and social care.

Page 14

Agenda Item 10
7. Access to General Practice
7.1. Devon’s GPs practices have been working tirelessly over the last year,
managing the pandemic response and delivery of the NHS COVID-19
vaccination programme.
7.2. Over the last 12 months in Devon, Plymouth and Torbay there have been:
•
•
•
•

More than 4 million face to face appointments in general practice
More than 2 million telephone consultations
More than 500,000 online consultations
More than 920,000 vaccination appointments

7.3. While the number reduced last year, almost 60% of the appointments with
GPs are now face to face in the county.
7.4. Over a number of years GP practices in England have been moving towards
introducing the additional option for online consultations as part of their
access to the practice, in line with national guidance.
7.5. Devon has led the way nationally on embracing new technology and prior to
the COVID-19 pandemic our GP practices were already well advanced in
using online consultations (eConsult) and telephone triage. This meant that
Devon’s GP practices were already in a strong position to manage and
respond to the challenges of working in a pandemic.
7.6. Over the last year, all GP practices in Devon have offered online, telephone
and video consultations as an initial triage step, only conducting face to face
appointments where it was clinically necessary.
7.7. On 13 May 2021, NHS England wrote to GP practices across the country to
advise that GP practices must all ensure they are offering face to face
appointments and that practices should respect preferences for face to face
care unless there are good clinical reasons to the contrary.
7.8. At the height of the pandemic, face to face appointments in GP practices in
the NHS Devon CCG reduced to 52% in April 2020, compared with 78% in
October 2019. The latest data for June 2021 suggests this is now 59%, 3%
higher than the national average for face to face appointments.
Appointments in General Practice – ICS Devon Area1

June 2021

Face to Face

Home visits

Telephone

Video

Total

397,000
(59%)

4,412
(0.5%)

245,000
(36%)

4620
(0.68%)

651,032

1

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/appointments-in-generalpractice/july-2021

Page 15

Agenda Item 10
8. National Disability Strategy and the National Strategy for Autistic Children,
Young people and Adults
8.1. In July this year the Government launched both a national disability strategy
and a national strategy for autistic children, young people and adults. A short
briefing has been produced including how they align to DCC and ICS
strategies:
9. National Disability Strategy
9.1. The strategy is about improving disabled peoples’ everyday lives and
experience in the world, removing the barriers literally and metaphorical
through new and continued work and investment. It covers significant and
wide-ranging ground.
9.2. The focus is on education, training, employment, and housing. Improving
physical access and encouraging participation in these areas and in wider
society.
9.3. The strategy is not an ASC strategy. It sets out roles, responsibilities,
actions and commitments across 13 government departments, rather than
looking at disabilities through a single department lens. Whether that will
result in a net increase or reduction in need for ASC support is not explored.
9.4. The strategy majors on physical disability with other types of disabilities less
present.
9.5. The government states it will continue working with disabled people and
disability organisations at every stage of social care reform to ensure their
voices are heard and needs reflected.
9.6. The strategy will ensure that health and social care staff understand learning
disability and autism to reduce the health inequalities people often face.
What that means practically is not clear.
9.7. The LeDeR programme (Learning Disability Mortality (death) Review) will
include autistic people by March 2022.
10. National strategy for autistic children, young people and adults: 2021-2026
10.1. Strong emphasis on this being a one-year plan up to 2022 working toward
the vision. Future years’ plans will be dependent on the outcome of the
spending review. Actions don’t go beyond 2022.
10.2. Implication of and the timing of wider ASC reforms are important but
unknown; reform must work for people with autism and enable access to
care and support.
10.3. ICSs become statutory from April 2022; will we see a review on national
governance arrangement and responsibilities for autism, including where
duties and responsibilities might sit or be delivered or how funding is
allocated to and within ICSs.
10.4. Integrated care boards will focus on autism and learning disabilities at the
highest level, having a named executive lead.

Page 16

Agenda Item 10
10.5. A lot in the strategy about upskilling the workforce of statutory orgs and
professionals and increasing awareness of autism.
10.6. VCS is not very loud in the strategy nor is seeing a person with autism in the
context of their family, prevention or autism as a secondary need.
11. Alignment with local ICS and DCC strategic priorities across Devon
11.1. Both strategies align with and are enhanced by our local plans in Devon to
improve how people with disabilities live independently. This includes the
ICS and DCC’s strategic priorities as we respond and recover from the
pandemic.
11.2. They also align with Devon’s system plans set out within the Long Term
Plan for the Learning Disability and Autism programme (21/22-23/24).
11.3. The key priorities set out in Devon’s Long Term Plan include the following
and there are detailed actions for all of this work:










Reducing reliance on inpatient beds;
Increasing uptake of Annual Health Checks for people;
Tackling Health Inequalities – through the LeDeR and STOMP programmes;
Implementation of national learning disability improvement standards;
Increasing housing opportunities for people to live as independently as
possible in the community;
Supporting people to get and retain a job;
Developing the provider market to have the capacity and resilience to support
the provision of quality care;
Improving support for autistic people and their families, particularly focussing
on waiting time for assessment; and
Developing the provision of post-diagnostic interventions for autistic people.

Tim Golby
Locality Director – North and East
Devon County Council and NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group
Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health Services: Councillor James
McInnes
Chief Officer for Adult Care and Health: Jennie Stephens
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972: LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
Contact for Enquiries:
Tel No: 01392 382300
BACKGROUND PAPER

James Martin
Room: G42
DATE

Nil

Page 17

FILE REFERENCE

Agenda Item 11
CS0/21/14
Health & Adult Care Scrutiny Committee
15 September 2021

18 August 2021 Standing Overview Group – Public Health Focus
Report of the Health & Adult Care Scrutiny Members
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to confirmation by the Committee
before taking effect.

Recommendations:
That the Committee shares the learning from the most recent Standing Overview Group meeting which
focussed on Public Health to inform its future work programme.

Background
The Standing Overview Group of the Health and Adult Care Scrutiny Committee meets bi-monthly as an
information sharing and member development session where issues are presented to the councillors to
raise awareness and increase knowledge. Any action points arising from the sessions are reported back
to the formal Committee meeting. On 18 August 2021 the Standing Overview Group received
presentations from officers on Public Health, which particularly focussed on their latest annual report.

Members in Attendance







Cllr Sara Randall Johnson (Chair)
Cllr David Cox
Cllr Ian Hall
Cllr Carol Whitton
Cllr Martin Wrigley
Cllr James McInnes (Cabinet Member)

2020/21 Public Health Annual Report
Officers from Public Health provided members with an overview of 2020/21 Public Health Annual Report:


The report centres on Covid both from an epidemiological point of view, and Devon perspective and
response. There is a significant focus on the impact of Covid, not just from a health perspective but
from a societal and environmental one.



A key feature of report is the disproportionate impact of Covid on certain communities, with the
pandemic exacerbating inequalities.



Many of the recommendations in the annual report focus on maintaining capacity that has been
developed through collaboration with health colleagues as well as districts in terms of test and trace,
to ensure a robust health protection system is in place.



The report includes headline data but seeks to encourage a move to accessing digital data that is up
to date in a way an annual report cannot be.

Page 19

Agenda Item 11
Officers guided members through various resources on the Devon Health and Wellbeing webpages, and
then those relating to the Devon Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, which is a statutory function of the
Health & Wellbeing Board, but has use in terms of neighbourhood planning, community groups and
voluntary sector, schools and universities. Officers highlighted:


Discrepancy in health outcomes in different areas in the County. North / South divide in terms of
multiple indices of deprivation with a 10-15-year gap in life expectancy between different
communities.



The impact of poor mental health.



The need to understand what the health and care needs of a population of a geographical area are,
and what is being done to address those needs. Strive to have an intelligence led health and care
system as the foundation of decision making, not just as required by law.



The need to create happy and healthy communities.



Encourage members to use the resources available. Officers happy to support members with
detailed neighbourhood information on interactive tools available. JSNA links to be included as a
resource on members Sharepoint site.

Issues Identified by Members
The following issues were identified by members during their discussion with officers:


Important for all members to have clarity around health needs of the population.



Concern as to the significant variance in life expectancy in different parts of the County, and the
action being taken to address issues in certain communities. Officers accepted that they need to gain
traction on change in a way that they have not been able to date. It is not a simple fix, but through
the Integrated Care System and Local Care Partnerships there are both the opportunities and the
appetite to address these inequalities.



The dynamics of need, demand and supply are critical. How to help people live their lives as well as
they can in the place they want to be.



Small pots of funding can really help community groups in local delivery.



Issues with workforce and ability to supply services with older population and reducing working age
population.



There are issues in some communities where a need is identified, and services are put in place but
then not accessed. Officers noted the importance of a universal element of service delivery but there
also needs to be a targeted offer to certain communities to get the take up.



The Chief Officer for Adult Care and Health highlighted Locality Care Partnerships as being key to
delivering transformation change at local level.



The importance of asset-based community development. Communities understand the local issues
and are key to finding solutions. Member’s role in enabling those they represent to be empowered in
moving forward. Members need to be community advocates and a conduit for hearing what is
happening on the ground.



Using workplaces to communicate health information.

Page 20

Agenda Item 11


The opportunity as a system to be braver and do things differently. The need to better understand
what barriers are stopping things happening. It is not just about money, but about working together,
overcoming cultural barriers, data sharing etc.



Putting early intervention in place to try to reduce more costly demand further down the line. Officers
advised that there are financial models in terms of preventative work to reduce acute costs.



The importance of undertaking a health inequalities impact assessment on every decision taken. It
is as much about prevention and early intervention as treatment.



Public Health urge the County Council, and the wider health system to ensure that on all decisions
made there is an analysis of whether its impact will make health outcomes better or worse in terms
of inequalities. It is a challenge for the Scrutiny function to review how successfully this is happening.
Scrutiny needs to continue to challenge, to be curious, inquisitive and to look for innovation.

Conclusion
The Committee thanked officers for attending this meeting and recognised the invaluable role Public
Health has played, and very much continues to play, in terms of responding to the unprecedented
challenges society has faced through the pandemic.
A further session on the JSNA and the Health & Wellbeing Strategy is planned for members later in the
Autumn.

Key Links Referenced


JSNA Summary: report picking out the main health and wellbeing headlines for Devon: Devon Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment Summary - Devon Health and Wellbeing



Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report: monitors Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy priorities
for Devon, districts and inequalities: Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report - Devon Health and
Wellbeing



Vital Statistics Tool: Devon and local authority level population and health statistics (an live
‘appendix’ to our Annual Public Health report: Vital Statistics tool - Devon Health and Wellbeing



JSNA Headline Tool: the community profile tool from our JSNA providing population, health, social
and economic information at various community levels including small areas (LSOAs) and electoral
divisions: JSNA headline tool - Devon Health and Wellbeing



Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: sets out the priorities for the Health and Wellbeing Board
and constituent organisations from 2020 to 2025: Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy - Devon Health
and Wellbeing

Councillor Sara Randall Johnson, Chair
Health & Adult Care Scrutiny Committee
Electoral Divisions: All
Local Government Act 1972
List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries: Dan Looker / Tel No: (01392) 382232
Background Paper
Date
Nil
There are no equality issues associated with this report

Page 21

File Ref

